FILED

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 92,536

MD J. WHITE

APR 9 1998

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

Ohier Doputy Clerk

METROPOLITAN DADE COUNTY,

Petitioner,

vs.

CHASE FEDERAL HOUSING CORP., et al.,

Respondents.

# AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER METROPOLITAN DADE COUNTY

ROBERT A. GINSBURG
Dade County Attorney
Stephen P. Clark Center
Suite 2810
111 N.W. 1st Street
Miami, Florida 33128-1993
Tel: (305) 375-5151
Fax: (305) 375-5634

by

Robert A. Duvall Assistant County Attorney Florida Bar No. 256293

and

Thomas H. Robertson
Assistant County Attorney
Florida Bar No. 301991

FILENAME \p C:\mp\brf\049838c.doc

###

### INTRODUCTION

This is a petition to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court to review the Third District Court of Appeal decision of Metropolitan Dade County v. Chase Federal Housing Corp., which passed upon a question certified by the district court to be of great public importance. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v), Fla.R.App.P.

The Third District's opinion establishes a new legal standard for determining when legislation is to be given retroactive effect by the courts, in the absence of any express statutory language requiring such retroactive application. Apparently drawing upon the doctrine of implied preemption, the Third District concluded that the legislative intent to apply the Act's provisions retroactively could be judicially inferred from the "comprehensive" nature of the Act as a whole and of the particular provisions under consideration.

As applied to the immunity provisions of the Florida Drycleaning Contamination Cleanup Act<sup>2</sup> at issue in this case,

So.2d \_\_\_, 23 Fla.L.Weekly D322 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998).

The Drycleaning Contamination Cleanup Act was first enacted in 1994 and became effective July 1, 1994. In its present form, the act contains three immunity provisions. The first immunity provision is contained in the first paragraph of § 376.3078(3), Fla. Stat. (1997), the second is in [Footnote continued]

the Third District's Opinion has the effect of providing a statewide grant of retroactive immunity to members of the drycleaning industry for all liabilities resulting from environmental violations, notwithstanding that these liabilities accrued and enforcement actions were commenced long before the enactment of the Act. As will be fully discussed, the retroactivity standard employed by the Third District is without legal support and, as applied in this case, serves only to bestow an unintended financial windfall upon the drycleaning industry at the public's expense, while frustrating the Act's purpose of expediting the cleanup of the industry-wide, historic contamination that exists throughout the state.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS PARTIES

The petitioner is Miami-Dade County (hereafter "County"). The respondents are: 1) Suniland Associates, a Florida general partnership comprised of Howard Scharlin, Gerald Katcher, and Harry Corash (hereafter "Suniland Associates"), and 2) Jay M. Gottlieb and Northern Trust Bank of Florida, N.A., as Personal Representatives of the Estate of Charles Gottlieb (hereafter

subsection (3)(o) and the last is in subsection (9). As originally enacted the Act contained only the first referenced immunity provision. The latter two were added by the 1995 amendments to the Act. See, Ch. 94-355 and 95-239, Laws of Florida.

"Gottlieb"), and 3) Chase Federal Housing Corp., a Florida corporation (hereafter "Chase").

The County was the plaintiff in the trial court in this environmental enforcement and cost recovery action. The actions by the Respondents that gave rise to the claims of the County occurred in 1991-1993. The trial court granted Respondents' Motions for Summary Judgment based upon the retroactive application of the immunity allegedly conferred by \$ 376.3078, Fla. Stat. (1997). The Third District affirmed the decision thereby giving retroactive immunity to members of the drycleaning industry for liabilities resulting from past environmental violations.

### **FACTS**

Respondents are landowners of shopping centers along US-1 in the Suniland area of Dade County, which have had drycleaners as tenants. In 1991, drycleaning solvent contamination was discovered in the private drinking water wells of homes in the neighborhoods adjacent to the shopping centers. Drycleaning solvent contamination was also discovered in the septic tank systems of the shopping centers. The Respondents were issued Notices of Violation by the County's Department of Environmental Resources Management (DERM) for

The facts set forth are taken directly from the Stipulations of Fact entered by the parties. Those Stipulations are contained in the County Appendix at pages 6-21. (hereafter "App.") As such, no references to the record are included.

the contamination, and in each instance, the Respondents conducted environmental assessments and cleanups of their property.<sup>4</sup> However, the contamination that had migrated off site was not recovered, nor was it reasonably recoverable.

The County, in its complaint, alleged that the contamination at the shopping centers was the source of the contamination in the private drinking water wells. As a result of the contamination of the private drinking water wells in the area, the County was required to install drinking water mains in the entire area at great expense to the County. These water mains were installed and complete by 1993. In addition, the County expended large sums in the investigation of the contamination, including laboratory fees to test the drinking water of many of the residents in the area to determine the extent of the contamination, all expended prior to 1993.

The Suniland Associates cleanup after 4½ years of cleanup effort, has proceeded to completion. The Gottlieb and Chase cleanups are in a "monitoring only" stage after 4 years of active assessment and cleanup activity. In such a stage, the cleanup has been completed, however, the groundwater is monitored for a period to ensure that the cleanup remains effective.

### THE CASE BELOW

The County filed this action in the Circuit Court on

December 19, 1994. The County's First Amended Complaint

includes four counts: 1) Injunctive relief to require cleanup

of the contamination both on and off site at the properties;

2) Damages for the costs of installing the drinking water

mains to the surrounding areas; 3) Penalties as provided for

in Chapter 24 of the Metropolitan Dade County Code; and 4)

Attorney's fees and administrative costs as provided for in

Chapter 24 of the County Code. In its Summary Judgment, the

trial court denied the County relief under all four counts of

the complaint.

Initially, the defendants, including these Respondents, had moved to dismiss the action based on a claimed immunity retroactively conferred by the Drycleaning Contamination Cleanup Act. Rather than ruling on the Motions to Dismiss, the court stayed the case to allow the drycleaning program to be set up by the state and the respondents to thereafter apply to the program. In the order granting the stay, the trial court set forth conditions under which it intended to grant

It is not in dispute that prior to the effective date of the Act, the County had the lawful authority to compel rehabilitation of contaminated properties and to recover any enforcement expenses, as well as those expenses it incurred in the rehabilitation of a contaminated property or the replacement of a potable water source. §§ 24-55, 24-57(a) & (g) Dade County Code (copies of these code sections are contained in App. 22-26); Seaboard System Railroad, Inc. V. Clemente, 467 So.2d 348 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985).

dismissal of the action with prejudice. (The order, which is styled Order Granting in Part, And Denying in Part, Motions to Dismiss Complaint is contained at App. 12-16.) In this regard, the order provided that dismissal would be granted provided the defendants showed that they had been subsequently determined eligible for the state operated drycleaning contamination cleanup program. In response, Respondents, more than six months later, filed Motions for Summary Judgment including documentation showing acceptance into the state operated program. The grounds for summary judgment were the same as those raised in the Motions to Dismiss and addressed by the trial court in its November 27, 1995 order granting the stay.

The trial court granted Respondents' Motions for Summary Judgment upon a finding that they had received retroactive immunity from the Drycleaning Act by virtue of their inclusion in the program. (The Summary Judgments are contained at App. 32-39).

The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court finding that the Act retroactively cut off all of the County's claims. In so doing, the Third District certified the following question as being of great public importance:

More than six months elapsed between the time the trial court entered the stay order and the time when the Respondents' were determined eligible for the state operated drycleaning contamination cleanup program.

ARE SUBSECTIONS 376.3078(3) AND 376.3078(9), FLORIDA STATUTES (1995), WHICH PROVIDE ELIGIBLE ENTITIES CONDITIONAL IMMUNITY FROM CERTAIN ADMINISTRATIVE AND JUDICIAL ACTIONS BY STATE AND LOCAL GOVERNMENTS AND AGENCIES, INTENDED BY THE LEGISLATURE TO APPLY RETROACTIVELY, THUS PRECLUDING ACTIONS AGAINST IMMUNIZED ENTITIES FOR THE RECOVERY BY A GOVERNMENT FOR ENFORCEMENT AND REHABILITATION COSTS EXPENDED PRIOR TO THE ENACTMENT OF THESE SUBSECTIONS?

### THE DRYCLEANING ACT

The express purpose of the Act is to prevent delays in the cleanup of widespread, historic drycleaning solvent contamination and otherwise provide for expeditious cleanups. § 376.3078(1)(c), Fla. Stat. (1997). The Act seeks to address the problem of industry-wide, historic contamination that is causing on-going pollution as it continues to leach, or seep, into the state's groundwater. Groundwater cleanups, like the ones conducted by the Respondents, often span several years.

The Drycleaning Contamination Cleanup Act was enacted by the 1994 legislature and became effective July 1, 1994. The Legislature expressly recognized the significant danger posed by historic drycleaning solvent contamination and the statewide critical impact this contamination has on the drinking water supplies of the state: "(a) Significant

The Drycleaning Contamination Cleanup Act has been codified predominantly within Chapter 376 Fla. Stat. The portions that are in contention in this suit are contained in § 376.3078, Fla. Stat. (1997).

quantities of drycleaning solvents have been discharged in the past at drycleaning facilities as part of the normal operation of these facilities. (b) Discharges of drycleaning solvents at such drycleaning facilities have occurred and are occurring, and pose a significant threat to the quality of the groundwater and inland surface waters of this state."

§ 376.3078(1), Fla. Stat. (1997).

The primary, if not singular, intent of the Legislature in passing the Act was the elimination of delays which had plagued the cleanup of contaminated drycleaning sites throughout the state. In this regard, the Act again provides express legislative findings: "Where contamination of the ground water or surface water has occurred, remedial measures have often been delayed for long periods ..." (emphasis added) § 376.3078(1)(c) Fla. Stat. (1997). "Adequate financial resources must be readily available to provide for the expeditious supply of safe and reliable alternative sources of potable water to affected persons and to provide a means for investigation and rehabilitation of contaminated sites without delay." (emphasis added) § 376.3078(1)(d) Fla. Stat. (1997). Accordingly, the clearly expressed purpose of the Act is to eliminate delays and expedite cleanups.

To achieve its stated purpose, the Act creates a state operated cleanup program to take over cleanup tasks at contaminated drycleaning sites once they have met the

eligibility requirements of the statute, filed a complete application and been accepted into the program. Once a site is accepted into the program, the extent to which the state cleanup program undertakes actual cleanup measures, if at all, is dependent upon the significance of the threat posed by the site and the availability of funding. § 376.3078(4), Fla. Stat. (1997).

Contained within § 376.3078, Fla. Stat. (1997) are the three immunity provisions. These provisions variously provide immunity, to eligible owners and operators of drycleaning facilities and landowners, from actions to force cleanups of contamination or to recover the costs of cleanups of contamination. The trial court and Third District interpreted these immunity provisions to apply retroactively, so as to defeat claims by the County to recover large sums it

The program has limited funding and only receives approximately \$8 million per year from a modest tax imposed upon the drycleaning industry. To date, over 1100 sites have applied for eligibility. The cost of cleaning up these sites has been estimated to <a href="https://www.average">average</a> \$250,000 to \$500,000 per site. At current funding levels, the most conservative estimates indicate that it will take in excess of 40 years to pay for the cleanup of all currently contaminated sites. See Interim Project Report 97-P-16, The Florida Senate Committee on Natural Resources, September 1997 contained at App. 40-46.

The 1994 version of § 376.3078 only contained the immunity provision in the first paragraph of subsection (3). In 1995, the Legislature amended § 376.3078 to add the immunity provisions in subsections (3)(o) and (9), relating only to real property owners, as well as various other changes not germane to this appeal. The 1995 amendments became effective October 1, 1995.

was forced to expend for investigations and the replacement of drinking water supplies contaminated by drycleaning solvents from the Respondents' properties long before the Act's enactment.

C:\wp\brf\049838c.doc

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case presents a narrow issue of statutory construction with potentially far-reaching adverse effects for the environment. The Third District's Opinion holds that the immunity provisions contained in the Florida Drycleaning Contamination Cleanup Act are to be applied retroactively, so as to bar various pre-act environmental enforcement and cost recovery claims by the County. In so holding, the Third District announces what amounts to a new legal doctrine of implied retroactivity.

This represents a sharp departure from the well established law of this state that "[a] substantive statute is presumed to operate prospectively rather than retrospectively unless the Legislature clearly expresses its intent that the statute is to operate retrospectively." Alamo Rent-A-Car, Inc, v. Mancusi, 632 So.2d 1352, 1358 (Fla. 1994).

Notwithstanding the absence of any such legislative expression of intent that the Act's provisions be applied retroactively, the Third District inferred such an intent from what it termed the "comprehensive" nature of the Act and of the language of the immunity sections.

There is absolutely no precedent or legal authority for such an approach. Nor did the Third District's opinion provide any reason for drawing a correlation between the comprehensiveness of an act and the legislative intent that it be applied retroactively. The established law requires a

C:\wp\brf\049838c.doc

clearly stated expression of such intent and this requirement is understood by the legislature. It would appear that the Third District has simply confused the standard for retroactivity with the standard for implied preemption, which does consider the comprehensiveness of a regulatory scheme.

See Tribune Company v. Cannella, 458 So.2d 1075, 1077 (Fla. 1984), rev. dismissed 471 U.S. 1096 (1985).

The Third District's new retroactivity standard is not only plainly at odds with well established law, its misapplication to the immunity provisions of the Drycleaning Act is made readily apparent by the most fundamental rule of statutory construction; namely, the plain meaning rule. When the plain meaning of the language used in the immunity provisions is read in the light of the Act's express purpose of preventing further delays in the cleanup of contaminated sites, it becomes abundantly clear that applying the Act's immunity provisions retroactively frustrates this very purpose. Ultimately, it is the Act's purpose of preventing delays in the cleanup of contaminated drycleaning sites that must serve as the yardstick by which any proffered interpretation is measured.

The Third District's opinion expressly acknowledges that the immunity provisions of the Act provide only "conditional immunity." Accordingly, until statutory preconditions are met, there is no immunity provided under the Act and cleanup efforts at contaminated sites are to continue. Yet, under the

Third District's reading that the immunity provisions are to apply retroactively, drycleaning facilities, in anticipation of receiving retroactive immunity, are actually discouraged from continuing with cleanup measures during the lengthy period before a site is determined eligible for the state operated cleanup program. As a result, during this preeligibility period, contaminated drycleaning sites will sit unattended and the solvent contamination will continue to spread into the surrounding soils and groundwater. This, of course, is the very evil which the Act was intended to prevent.

Since the spread of the contamination is on-going and because groundwater cleanups often span several years, it is important that cleanup efforts likewise be ongoing. Delaying these efforts until a site is determined eligible for the state operated cleanup program, when responsibility for continuing these efforts then shifts to the state, serves only to provide the drycleaning industry an unintended financial windfall, while increasing the cost and decreasing the efficacy of subsequent cleanup effort by the already severely underfunded state program.

The Third District's opinion is plainly at odds with the well established law on when legislation is to be applied retroactively. Moreover, an application of the plain meaning rule of statutory construction to the immunity provisions of the Act make clear that they are to have prospective effect.

C: hyp\brf\049838c.doc

### ARGUMENT

I.

IT WAS ERROR FOR THE THIRD DISTRICT TO INFER THAT THE LEGISLATURE INTENDED THE ACT'S IMMUNITY PROVISIONS TO APPLY RETROACTIVELY BASED SOLELY UPON THE "COMPREHENSIVE" NATURE OF THE ACT

It is well established law that "[a] substantive statute is presumed to operate prospectively rather than retrospectively unless the Legislature clearly expresses its intent that the statute is to operate retrospectively." (citations omitted) Alamo Rent-A-Car, Inc, v. Mancusi, 632 So.2d 1352, 1358 (Fla. 1994); Gupton v. Village Key & Saw Shop, Inc., 656 So.2d 475 (Fla. 1995); Young v. Altenhous, 472 So.2d 1152 (Fla. 1985); Anderson v. Anderson, 468 So.2d 528 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985). The Third District and the Respondents have accepted that this statutory scheme is substantive in nature and that, therefor the presumption against retroactivity applies.

Despite the absence of any expression of retroactivity in the Act, and the Third District's acknowledgment that the presumption against retroactivity can only be overcome if clearly expressed by the legislature, the Third District nonetheless concluded that the Act is to be retroactively applied. The Third District reached this conclusion, without citation to any supporting authority, due to what the court termed the "comprehensive" nature of the Act as a whole and

the immunity sections in particular. Solely on the basis of the Act's purported comprehensiveness the Third District inferred "that the legislature has clearly expressed its intention that the Act is to be retroactively applied."

Metropolitan Dade County v. Chase Federal Housing Corp., 23

Fla.L.Weekly at D323.

There is no legal support for using the comprehensiveness of an act, or its provisions, as a gauge of the Legislature's intention to apply the act retroactively, in the absence of an express statement. The Third District evidently confused the standard for implied preemption with the standard for retroactivity. <sup>11</sup> Nor is there any reason for the courts to

In this regard, the opinion of the Third District is also internally inconsistent. While relying upon the purported comprehensiveness of the immunity provisions to support its conclusion that they be applied retroactively, the Third District expressly acknowledges that these provisions provide only "conditional immunity to various entities when they meet certain eligibility requirements." (emphasis supplied).

The standard for implied preemption was stated by this Court in *Tribune Company v. Cannella*, 458 So.2d 1075, 1077 (Fla. 1984), rev. dismissed 471 U.S. 1096 (1985) ("...if the senior legislative body's scheme of regulation of the subject is pervasive and if further regulation of the subject by the junior legislative body would present a danger of conflict with that pervasive regulatory scheme...")(quoting dissenting opinion below with approval).

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