IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 92,536

METROPOLITAN DADE COUNTY,

Petitioner,

vs.

CHASE FEDERAL HOUSING CORP., et al.,

Respondents.

ON PETITION TO INVOKE DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO REVIEW DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT CASE NOS. 97-49, 97-50, 97-857

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS, JAY M. GOTTLIEB AND NORTHERN TRUST BANK, N.A., CO-PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVES OF THE ESTATE OF CHARLES GOTTLIEB

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

Dade County does not possess any constitutional rights which would prohibit this Court from enforcing the immunity provided by the Legislature in the Drycleaning Act and extinguishing Dade County's claims against the Personal Representatives. <u>See e.g. State of Florida v. City of</u> <u>Pensacola</u>, 126 So. 2d 566, 570 (Fla. 1961) ("In addition to the broad powers which the legislature has to select the subjects for taxation and exemption, its power with respect to municipalities is absolutely unlimited except as restrained by the state or federal constitutions. . . . [W]e are of the opinion that the 'equality' provisions of the Federal and State Constitutions do not constitute restraints upon the state in control of its own municipalities.") (citations omitted); <u>Town of</u> <u>Palm Beach v. City of West Palm Beach</u>, 55 So. 2d 566, 572 (Fla.

1951) ("The power of the Florida Legislature with respect to its municipalities is absolutely unlimited except as constrained by the state or federal Constitution.").

The state and federal constitutions are the only limitations on enforcing the will of the Legislature. Moreover, the basis for preventing retroactive application of new statutes is to avoid violating constitutional due process rights. See Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Scherer, 558 So. 2d 411, 414 (Fla. 1990) ("Due process considerations preclude retroactive application of a law that creates a substantive right.") However, these limitations do not help Dade County here. It is well established that Dade County, as a political subdivision of the State of Florida, does not possess any federal or state due process rights. Holmes County, 668 So. 2d at 1102 ("Being political subdivisions of the State of Florida, the Plaintiff Counties are not a 'person' entitled to protection under the due process clause of the federal or state constitution."). This Court has also adhered to this fundamental principle:

> It is an established principle of constitutional law that those constitutional restraints imposed by the Federal Constitution against state action do not apply against the state in favor of its own municipality, in so far as equal protection of the laws and due process of the law under the Fourteenth Amendment are concerned. See Trenton v. New Jersey, 262 U.S. 182, 43 S. Ct. 534, 67 L. Ed. 937, 29 A. L. R. 1471.

As a protection of the liberty and property rights of persons against adverse legislative action on the part of the

<u>states</u>, the clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States which declares that no <u>state</u> shall deprive any <u>person</u> of life, liberty, or property without due process of law, nor deny any <u>person</u> within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws, have never been held applicable to municipal corporations on the theory that such public corporations are "persons" within the purview of the language of the Fourteenth Amendment.

Shelby, 151 So. at 55 (emphasis original).

Federal courts have also followed this principle. In <u>City</u> of <u>Safety Harbor v. Birchfield</u>, 529 F.2d 1251 (5th Cir. 1976), the court held that a municipal government is not a "person" protected under the United States Constitution or Section 1983 of the Civil Rights Act. In so ruling, the court explained:

> Ever since the Supreme Court's landmark decision in <u>Dartmouth College v. Woodward</u>, 17 U.S. (4 Wheat.) 518, 4 L.Ed. 629 (1819), it has been apparent that public entities which are political subdivisions of states do not possess constitutional rights, such as the right to be free from state impairment of contractual obligations, in the same sense as private corporations or individuals. Such entities are creatures of the state, and possess no rights, privileges or immunities independent of those expressly conferred upon them by the state.

529 F.2d at 1254 (citation omitted); see also Randolph County v. Alabama Power Co., 784 F.2d 1067, 1072 (11th Cir. 1986)(Court held that "[C]ounty does not have any federally protected right against a state that takes public property without paying compensation."), modified on other grounds, 798 F.2d 425 (11th Cir. 1986), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 1032 (1987).

Accordingly, because Dade County does not possess any due process or other constitutional rights, it has no basis to challenge retroactive application of the Drycleaning Act. Accordingly, this Court must enforce the immunity provisions of the Drycleaning Act against Dade County.

B. <u>The Drycleaning Act Has The Effect Of Eliminating Dade</u> <u>County's Ability To Impose A Penalty And Therefore</u> <u>Applies To All Pending Actions.</u>

Because Dade County does not have a right to sue the Personal Representatives, but merely a power to regulate, the situation here is akin to the elimination of Dade County's ability to impose a penalty. <u>See Sun Harbor</u>, 700 So. 2d at 180-81 (treating Florida Statute § 403.9324(3), which abolished Broward County's regulatory power under a county ordinance, as the elimination of a penalty). It is well established that the elimination of a penalty by the Legislature applies to all pending cases from the moment it becomes effective, even on appeal. <u>Pensacola & A. R. Co. v. State of Florida</u>, 33 So. 985, 986 (Fla. 1903)("[T]he repeal of the statute imposing such [civil] penalty operates as a release or remission of such penalty where there is no saving clause as to past violations of such repealed statute, and, after the repealing takes effect, no further proceedings can be taken under the law so repealed to enforce the penalty . . ."); K.M.T. v. Department of Health & Rehabilitative Servs., 608 So. 2d 865, 871 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) ("If a statute imposing a penalty in a civil action is repealed or modified during the pendency of the action, thereby

eliminating the penalty, such penalty no longer has any force or effect on the action."); Fogg v. Southeast Bank. N.A., 473 So. 2d 1352, 1355 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985)("A statute which eliminates a penalty applies, from the moment it takes effect, to all pending proceedings."). Accordingly, the Drycleaning Act, including its immunity provisions, applies from the moment it became effective on July 1, 1994, before Dade County filed its lawsuit against the Personal Representatives and other Respondents.

C. <u>Application Of The Drycleaning Act To Bar Dade</u> <u>County's Claims Does Not Impair Any Vested Rights.</u>

The Drycleaning Act does not impair any vested right of Dade County, and therefore this Court must follow the Legislature's intent for the Drycleaning Act to apply retroactively. <u>See Hernandez v. State of Florida. Dept. of</u> <u>State. Div. of Licensing</u>, 629 So. 2d 205, 206 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993) (rejecting constitutional challenge to application of statute which revoked private investigator's license because no vested rights were impaired), <u>rev. denied</u>, 640 So. 2d 1107 (Fla. 1994). As discussed above, Dade County does not possess any constitutional rights. Moreover, Dade County's cause of action is not a vested right.

Dade County's claims here are not based on a contract, but rest solely on Metropolitan Dade County Code Chapter 24. This Court held in <u>Clausell v. Hobart Corp.</u>, 515 So. 2d 1275, 1275-76 (Fla. 1987), <u>cert. denied</u>, 485 U.S. 1000 (1988), that a tort

claim prior to judgment is not a property right upon which constitutional protections are afforded. In holding that the deprivation of the plaintiff's tort claim did not violate due process, this Court stated:

> Several years ago in <u>Duke Power Co. v.</u> Carolina Environmental Study Group, Inc., 438 U.S. 59, 88, 98 S. Ct. 2620, 2638, 57 L.Ed.2d 595 (1978), the United States Supreme Court noted that "[o]ur cases have clearly established that '[a] person has no property, no vested interest, in any rule of the common law.'" See also Ducharme v. Merrill-National Laboratories, 574 F.2d 1307, 1309 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 1002, 99 S. Ct. 612, 58 L.Ed.2d 677 (1978) ("it is well settled that a plaintiff has no vested right in any tort claim for damages under state law"). More recently, in Logan v. Zimmerman Brush Co., 455 U.S. 422, 102 S. Ct. 1148, 71 L.Ed.2d 265 (1982), the Court acknowledged that a cause of action is a species of property but pointed out that the state remained free to create substantive defenses or immunities for use in adjudication.

Clausell, 515 So. 2d at 1275-76; see also In re TMI, 89 F.3d 1106, 1113 (3d Cir. 1996)("[A] pending tort claim does not constitute a vested right."), <u>cert. denied</u>, 117 S. Ct. 739 (1997); <u>Sowell v. American Cyanamid Co.</u>, 888 F.2d 802, 805 (11th Cir. 1989)("The fact that the statute is retroactive does not make it unconstitutional as a legal claim affords no definite or enforcible property right until reduced to final judgment"); <u>O'Brien v. J.I. Kislak Mortgage Corp.</u>, 934 F. Supp. 1348, 1362 (S.D. Fla. 1996)(In applying 1995 Truth-In-Lending Act Amendments retroactively, court stated that "a mere legal claim affords no enforceable property right until a final judgment has

been obtained."). Because Dade County does not have vested rights in its claims against the Personal Representatives, it cannot prevent the Drycleaning Act from being applied retroactively.

III. DADE COUNTY'S ARGUMENT THAT THE SCOPE OF THE IMMUNITY AFFORDED IN THE DRYCLEANING ACT DOES NOT PRECLUDE ITS CLAIMS AGAINST THE PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVES MUST FAIL.

Dade County attempts to avoid the immunity of the Drycleaning Act by arguing that the immunity is limited to "site rehabilitation," and does not apply to "prohibit the recovery of funds expended to replace a drinking water source, or administrative costs and attorneys' fees." (Dade County's Initial Brief, p. 22). Because Dade County never raised this argument during the numerous hearings held by the trial court concerning the Drycleaning Act, Dade County is not permitted to raise this argument for the first time on appeal. Dober v. Worrell, 401 So. 2d 1322, 1324 (Fla. 1981) (It is "inappropriate for a party to raise an issue for the first time on appeal from summary judgment."). Accordingly, this Court should not consider Dade County's argument that the scope of the Drycleaning Act's immunity does not extend to Dade County's claims for the cost of installing public water mains, administrative costs, penalties and attorney's fees. In addition to being waived, Dade County's argument is incorrect and ignores the clear language of the Drycleaning Act.

A. <u>The Express Language Of Chapter 376 Shows That</u> <u>Immunity Extends To Actions To Recover The Costs Of</u> <u>Replacing Potable Water.</u>

Dade County is suing the Personal Representatives for the costs incurred when it was allegedly "forced to install and connect drinking water main[s]" as a result of the drycleaning solvent contamination. (Record on Appeal, p. 132). Dade County's argument that no part of the Drycleaning Act prevents recovery of these costs ignores the plain language of the immunity provisions.

Section 376.3078(3) states in part:

Subject to the delays that may occur as a result of the prioritization of sites under this section for any qualified site, <u>costs</u> for activities described in paragraph (2)(b) shall be absorbed at the expense of the drycleaning facility restoration funds, without recourse to reimbursement or recovery from the real property owner or the operator of the drycleaning facility or the wholesale supply facility.

(Emphasis added). Included within the costs described in "paragraph (2)(b)" are "[e]xpeditious treatment, restoration, or replacement of potable water supplies as provided in s. 376.30(3)(c)1." Fla. Stat. § 376.3078(2)(b)(2). Florida Statute § 376.30(3)(c)(1)(a) states that "'replacement' means replacement of a well or well field or <u>connection to an</u> <u>alternative source of safe, potable water</u>." (Emphasis added). Moreover, "paragraph (2)(b)" includes the cost of investigation and assessment, also claimed by Dade County in this action. Fla. Stat. § 376.3078(2)(b)(1). Accordingly, § 376.3078(3)

expressly states that the grant of immunity extends to the costs of connection to safe potable water and costs of investigation and assessments, which shall not be recovered from real property owners such as the Personal Representatives.

B. <u>The Immunity Of Section 376.3078 Is Not Limited To</u> <u>"Site Rehabilitation."</u>

Dade County argues that the immunity provisions of § 376.3078(3) are limited to "site rehabilitation" because the 1996 amendments to Florida Statute § 376.301(36) set forth a definition for "site rehabilitation." The fact that the Legislature has defined "site rehabilitation" is irrelevant. As stated above, the immunity in Florida Statute § 376.3078(3) applies to the specific costs sought by Dade County. In fact, the term "site rehabilitation" does not appear in Florida Statute § 376.3078(3). Here, the Legislature instead afforded broad immunity from all actions for rehabilitation of environmental contamination, which expressly includes the costs of replacing a potable water supply, investigation and assessment.

Moreover, the Legislature's 1998 enactment of the following definition for "contaminated site" negates Dade County's argument:

> "contaminated site" means any <u>contiguous</u> land, sediment, surface water, or groundwater areas that contain contaminants that may be harmful to human health or the environment.

Fla. Stat. § 376.301(10)(1998)(emphasis added). Accordingly, a site extends beyond the limits set by property boundaries, as

does the immunity provided by the Drycleaning Act.

C. <u>Dade County's Claims For Penalties And Attorney's Fees</u> Are Barred By The Immunity Provided By The Drycleaning Act.

Dade County's argument that its claims for penalties and attorney's fees are not barred by the Drycleaning Act must also be rejected. These claims are derivative of Dade County's claim to compel rehabilitation and pay the costs of rehabilitation. <u>See Israel v. Lee</u>, 470 So. 2d 861, 862 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) ("The entitlement to attorney's fees is derivative in nature."). Because Dade County's main claim is barred, so too are Dade County's derivative claims for penalties and attorneys' fees. Any other result would defy logic.⁶

IV. FLORIDA STATUTE § 376.3078(9) ALSO PROVIDES IMMUNITY TO THE PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVES.

In their Motion for Final Summary Judgment, the Personal Representatives argued that the immunity afforded by Florida Statute § 376.3078(9)(1995) to real property owners who conduct voluntary cleanup efforts also bars Dade County's claims against the Personal Representatives. Reasoning that cleanup efforts had to be concluded before the immunity under Florida Statute § 376.3078(9) applied, the trial court denied the Personal

⁶ Dade County's claim for attorney's fees must also be rejected because Dade County Code Sec. 24-57(j), under which Dade County is claiming its attorney's fees, only authorizes the Director of DERM, and not Dade County, to recover attorney's fees. <u>See Dade County v. Pena</u>, 664 So. 2d 959, 960 (Fla. 1995) (It is a "well-established rule in Florida that statutes awarding attorney's fees must be strictly construed.") (internal quotations omitted).

Representatives' motion on this ground.

On appeal to the Third District, the Personal Representatives argued, as an alternative ground for affirmance, that the immunity provided by subsection (9) of the Drycleaning Act did not require completion of cleanup efforts as a prerequisite to immunity and therefore applied to bar Dade County's claims against the Personal Representatives.⁷ The Third District's opinion did not address the Personal Representatives' alternative argument.

Nevertheless, the clear language of subsection (9) of the Drycleaning Act requires that this additional immunity be afforded to the Personal Representatives, who have spent in excess of \$289,000.00 in remediation activities, all performed with DERM's prior approval. Florida Statute § 376.3078(9)(1995) states:

> (9) A real property owner is authorized to conduct site rehabilitation activities at any time pursuant to department rules, either through agents of the real property owner or through responsible response action contractors or subcontractors, whether or not the facility has been determined by the department to be eligible for the drycleaning solvent cleanup program. A real property owner or any other party that conducts site rehabilitation may not seek cost recovery from the department or the Hazardous Waste Management Trust Fund

The Personal Representatives raise this argument as an alternative ground supporting the affirmance of the District Court's opinion and of the trial court's entry of Summary Final Judgment. <u>See Cunningham v. Lynch-Davidson Motors, Inc.</u>, 425 So. 2d 131, 133 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), <u>pet. for rev. denied</u>, 436 So. 2d 99 (1983).

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